
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO . 16-CR-20698-LENARD

UM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

ATM N JAM ES W ARQICK,
I

a/k/a dfpeter Candlewood,D

Defendant.
/

FACTUAL PROFFER

Had this case gone to trial, the United States of America and the Defendant, Alvin James

W anick (hereinaûer, the <oefendant'' or (CW ARRICK'') agree that the United States woald have

proved the followin aHt beyond a reasonable doubt:
.>  ' M.ao tg

From January 1, M , tllrough September 7, 2016, in the Southern DisG ct of Florida, and

elsewhere, the Defendant, Colitha Patlice Bush (:%ush''), Ronald Bennett Shepherd (Gtshepherd''),

and others, lœ owingly and willfully engaged in a false and gaudulent scheme to obtain m oney

from relatives of inm ates incarcerated at federal correctional institutions by m aldng m aterially

false and fraudulent representations about purported assistance in obtaining a sentencing reduction

pursuant to Rule 35 of the Federal Rttles of Criminal Procedure, in exchange for money.

As part of the scheme, relatives of federal inmates were referred to Private Serdces, a

Texas companywlzich W ARRICK owned, aM W ARRICK and Bush owned and operated. M any

of these referrals cam e through federal inm ates, in M inmi-Dade County, and elsewhere, who

W ARRICK used to refer' potential victims, in exchange for a refenal fee paid to them by

W ARRICK. Thereafter, W ARRICK and his co-conspirators used mail, email, phone, and

in-person meeéngs to knowingly made m aterially false and gaudulent representations to these
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inmates and relatives of immates. W ARRICK and Bush represented that Pdvate Serdces used a

network of inform ants to m ake undercover dnzg deals and to provide inform ation and tllird party

cooperation in other criminal cases tuider the supervision of prosecutors, federal agents, and the

courts. W ARRICK and Bush also represented that, if successful, such deals and infonuation

would be credted to the innnate and used to sectlre their early release through a Rule 35 motion.

Dtuirk these representations, and throughout the consjiracy, WARRICK used aliases and false

names, including Gfpeter Candlewood'' to disgaise llis identity and evade detection. Bush also

used aliases and false names, including <r iane Lane'' and fr iane ltice.''

As a result of these false and gaudulent representations, relatives of inniates entered into

agreem ents with the conspirators to pay m oney irl exchange for assistance in securing a sentencing

reduction for their incarcerated relative. During the conspizacy, W ARRICK and bis

co-conspirators used the United States Postal Services to mail false and fraudulent docltments

sllrnmarizing these m angements, and invoices seeking payment, to the inmates' relatives.

W ARRICK and Bush required victims to make periodic payments via cash, check, wire, or

eleckonic flmd transfer in order for the third party cooperation process to be initiated. As

conobörated by barlk records and business document, these payments were deposited into bnmk

accolmts contw lled by the conspirators, including a W ells Fargo, N.A. bank accotmt ending in

9450 held in the name of Shepherd, d/b/a èrivate Services, and located in Texas (<GWe1ls Fargo

Accotmt'') In furtherance of the scheme, on February 5, 2015, Bush sent a text message to viotim

:*M .F.,'' a resident of M iam i-Dade Colmty, Florida, regarding inform ation for the W ells Fargo

Bnnk Accotmt, which M .F. later used to make a deposit into the accotmt. That same day, Bush

also made an interstate call to M .F. and left a voicemail regarding payments to be made by M .F. in

exchange fol. pmported Rule 35 cooperation proceedings on behalf of M .F.'S fam ily m ember

<&D.F.,'' who was an inmate at a federal prison located kt M iami-Dade County. The falsely and

Case 1:16-cr-20698-JAL   Document 67   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/16/2017   Page 2 of 4



fraudulently obtained money that W ARRICK, Bush, Shepherd and their co-conspirators received

through the schem e was used for their personal use and benefit.

W ARRICK and Bush used em ails, text m essages, interstate phone calls, the Ullited States

Péstal Senrice, and pther methods of cornmllnication to falsely and fraudulently represent to

vicfim s that sub. stantial assistance was offered and provided to the government on behalf of the

inmates whose relatives had made payments to the conspirators. For example, W ARRICK

created and used the email accotmt pserviceszol3@gmail.com to send retainer agreements, and

other docllments in furtherance of the fraudlzlent scheme. He then assured and consoled fnmily

m embers of federal inm ates that he would work on their case and help to coordinate third party

cooperation, but in truth and in fact, arld as he well lcnew, no such work was ever done.

In furtherance of the schem e, W ARRICK also signed a United States Postal Service

Application for Delivery of Mail Tllrough Agent tçTorm 1583'') and an Applicaéon for Mail Box, .

and submitted them  to the W est Bellfort

W ARRICK directed m ail itl connection with the schem e to be sent there. The conspirators also

Postal Center in Houston, Texas. Thereafter,

rovided M .F. with what they f'alsely and fraudulently represented to be a contract signed by anp

Assistant United States Attom ey in the Soufhern Distdct of New Y ork, the United States Attorney

for the Southem Distdct of New York, and EWancy Mccann,'' an investijator employed by Private

Selwices to facilitate a Rule 35 sentencing reduction for D.F. Both the Assistr t United States

Attorney and the United States Attorney subsequently confirmed with 1aw enforcement that the

sir atures on the document were not theirs, and nobody from that office had entered into or seen

such a contract. N ancy M ccnnn was not a real person, but rather, a false nam e created by the

conspirators.

The above facts are also colw borated by certified business records, phone rqcords, bank

doctlments, Internet Service Provider records, United States Postal Senrice docllments, and other
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records, photographs and recordings authenticated by the victims. As a result of the actions of

e 

.W ARRICK, Bush, Shepherd and other co-conspirators, at least twenty-two victlms suffered an

overall loss of approximately $4,401,005.

The information contained in tllis proffer is not a complete recitation of al1 the facts and

circllmstances of this case, but the parties admit it is sufscient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt

a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, that, is, conspiracy to comnnit wire

fraud and mail fraud, as charged in the Indictment.

BEN JAM EC G.GREENBERG
A CTW G LZGTED STATES ATTORNEY

By: '
P. M CNAM ARA

A SSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By: *

M ARK 0, N
ATTORNE FOR DEFENDANT

tA-By:
ALVIN JAM FARRICK
DEFENDANT

oate: 31 !y l )---?

wfltllnDate:

s / t u ( çqDate:
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